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ROBERT M. FUSFELD

ELIZABETH ESPINOSA KRUPA
Securities and Exchange Commission . F“.ED
1801 California Street, Suite 1500 e

Denver, Colorado 80202
Telephone: {(303) 844-1000 .

Facsimile: (303) 844-1068 wop 06T -2 283

THOMAS A. ZACCARC (Ca. Bar No. 183241)
Securities and Exchange Commission
5670 Wilshire Boulevard, 11™ Floor
Los Angeles, California 90036-3648
Telephone: (323) 965-3812

K.A).S. DISTRICT COURT
THERNDISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

Attorneys for United States
Securities and Exchange Commission

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION :
Plaintiff, : Docket Number:

v L conlB V1958 BTM JFS

B. Roland Frasier, ITII AND
RICHARD A. MAY,

Defendants.

Plaintiff Securitieg and Exchange Commission (“Commission”)
for its complaint alleges as follows:
I. SUMMARY OF THE ACTION
1. From approximately October 1999 through November 2000,
Defendants B. Roland Frasier, III and Richard May, along with

related party Max Gnehm (now deceased), orchestrated a fraudulent

1 ORIGINAL
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‘trading scheme involving the stock of Zandria Corp., an Internet

company previously located in San Diego, California. Sales
agents controlled by “cold-called” potential investors and urged
them to buy Zandria stock. At the same time May sold Zandria
stock to those investors. The defendants then split the proceeds
from these fraudulent unregistered sales of stock.

2. In approximately October 1999, the owners of Zandria
Entertainment Networks, Inc. {(“ZEN”), a privately held company,
agreed that in exchange for $300,000 and 7 million shares of
purportedly free-trading stock, Frasier would, among other
things, arrange a reverse merger or similar trangsaction with a
public shell corporation such that ZEN would become a public
company.

3. In approximately February 2000, Frasier, May and Gnehm
formed several offshore corporations through which they executed a
series of sham transactions whereby they acquired a majority
interest in a public shell corporation and gained control over its
purportedly free-trading stock. Frasier, May and Gnehm then
caused the public shell corporation to purchase the aésets of ZEN
and change the name of the resulting company to Zandria Corp.

4. In April 2000, Zandria stock began trading on the Over-
The-Counter Bulletin Board (“OTCBB”). Between April 2000 and
November 2000, Frasier, May and Gnehm executed a fraudulent scheme
wherein they concealed from invegtors three materials facts.

First, Gnehm paid a network of sales agents undisclosed
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compensation if they induced investors to buy Zandria stock on the

OTCBB. Seccnd, while touting the stock to investors, Gnehm’s
sales agents failed to disclose the fact that the defendants paid

the sales agents to tout the stock at the same time they were

selling it to meet the investor demand they created. Third, the
offshore entities controlled by Frasier, May and Gnehm secretly
owned more than 10 percent of Zandria's stock.

5. During the same time period, May sold more than $1 million
dollars of Zandria stock into the market touted by Gnehm and his
agents. May provided part of the proceeds from his sale of

Zandria stock tc Gnehm to pay undisclosed compensation to the

sales agents, then split the remaining proceeds of the fraud with
Frasier and Gnehm. As a result of the Zandria stock trading
scheme, May received approximately $405,000, Frasier netted
approximately $280,000, Gnehm received approximately $380,000 and.
at least $135,000 was paid to sales agents employed by Gnehm.

6. Defendant Frasier has, directly and indirectly, engaged
in, and unless restrained and enjoined by this Court will engage
in, transactions, acts, practices, and courses of business that

viclate Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

(“*Exchange Act”) [15 U.S.C. § 78] (b)] and Rule 10b-5 thereunder
[17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5].
7. Defendant May has, directly and indirectly, engaged in,

and unless restrained and enjoined by this Court will engage in,

transactions, acts, practices, and courses of business that
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Qiolate Sections 5(a) and 5{(c) of the Securities Act of 1833
(“Securities Act”) [15 U.S.C. §§ 77e(a) and 77e(c)}, Section 10(b)
of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5 thereunder
[17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5].

8. The Commission brings this action pursuant to the
authority conferred upon it by Section 20 of the Securities Act
[15 U.S.C. § 77t] and Sectiong 21(d) and (e) of the Exchange Act
[15 U.S.C. §§ 78u{d) and {e)] for an order permanently restraining
and enjoining Defendants and granting‘other equitable relief.

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

9. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to
Secticn 22(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77uf{a})] and
Sections 21(e) and 27 of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78ufe)
and 78aal.

10. In connection with the transactions, acts, practices,
and courses of business described in this Complaint, each of the
defendants, directly and indirectly, has made use of the means or
instrumentalities of interstate commerce, of the mails, and/or of
the means and instruments of transportation or communication in
interstate commerce.

11. Venue lies in this Court pursuant to Section 22(a) of
the Securities Act [15 U.S5.C. § 77u(a)] and Section 27 of the
Exchange Act [1%5 U.S.C. § 78aal.

12. All of the defendants reside within this judicial

district. Additionally, certain of the transactions, acts,
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practices and courses of business constituting the violations of

law alleged herein occurred within this judicial district.
ITII. DEFENDANTS

13. B. Roland Frasier, III is a resident of Rancho Santa Fe,
California. At times relevant tec the Commisgion’s Complaint,
Frasier was a partner in the law firm Gage, Frasier & Teeple LLP
("GFT”) in San Diego, California where he purported to specialize
in offshore asset protection. Frasier is licensed to practice
law in California and served as counsel to ZEN, Zandria, May and
Gnehm.

14. Richard A. May is a resident of San Diego, California.
May is the president and sole owner of Loma Portal Ventures, Inc.
May was associated with various broker-dealers registered with
the Commission from October 1992 through June 199%. May claims
to have extensive experience in buying and selling public shell
corporations and arranging the subsequent public trading or
market making of their stock. At times relevant to the
Commission’s Complaint, May controlled Nevis corporations
Manitoba Systems, Ltd. and Internet Investments, Ltd.

IV. RELATED PARTIES

15. Max W. Gnehm, was a Swiss citizen and a full-time
resident of San Diego, California. On August 28, 2003, Gnehm
died. At times relevant to the Commission’s Complaint, Gnehm was
the president and sole owner of Communications Group, Inc. (dba

Swiss American Investment Group, Inc. and SAIG Trading, Ltd.), a
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stock promotion company. At times relevant to the Commission’s

Complaint, Gnehm controlled Nevisg corporations INET Capital, Ltd.
and Jamestown Capital, Ltd. Gnehm was never registered with the
Commission as a broker or dealer or associated with a registered
broker or dealer.

16. Zandria Corp. is a Nevada corporation, and its principal
place of business was formerly in San Diego, California. Zandria
was formed when public shell Longhorn, Inc. purchased the assets
of ZEN, a privately held Florida corporation and the company
changed its name to Zandria. Zandria stock began trading on the
OTCBB on or about April 3, 2000. From approximately January 2000
through November 2000, Zandria conducted daily operations through
its wholly owned subsidiary, LevelRed.com, Inc. On February 18,
2003, the United States Bankruptcy Court, Southern District of
California, granted the petition of three creditors to place
Zandria in involuntary bankruptcy.

17. Zandria Entertainment Networks, Inc. (“ZEN”), was a
Florida corporation, that at times relevant to the Commission’s
Complaint, had its principal place of business in San Diego,
California. ZEN purported to be developing various Internet web
sites, including Z-LandFilm.com, Z-LandMusic.com, and
LevelRed.com. ZEN is defunct and its status as a corporation has
been suspended by the state of Florida.

18. Brian Lee (aka Brian Lee Petrosian) is a resident of San

Diego, California. At times relevant to the Commission’s
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'Complaint, Lee co-owned ZEN. From approximately November 1598

through March 2000, Lee, DiRoberto (see below) and others
conducted a fraudulent, unregistered and non-exempt offering of
ZEN stock that is the subject of a separate Commissicn civil
action.

19. Todd DiRoberto is a resident of San Diego, California.
At times relevant to the Commission’s Complaint, DiRoberto co-
owned ZEN. From approximately November 1998 through March 2000,
DiRcberto, Lee and others conducted a fraudulent, unregistered
and non-exempt offering of ZEN stock that is the subject of a
separate Commission civil action.

20. Shesado, Ltd. was a corporation organized under the laws
of the Caribbean island of Nevis. Frasier caused the
incorporation of Shesado and at times relevant to the
Commission’s Complaint, Frasier controlled Shesado. As detailed
below, Frasier used Shesado as his corporate alter ego to conceal
his transactions with, among others, ZEN, INET Capital, Ltd.,
Jamestown Capital, Ltd., Manitoba Systems, Ltd. and Internet
Investments, Ltd.

21. INET Capital, Ltd. was a corporation organized under the
laws of the Caribbean island of Nevis. Frasier caused the
incorporation of INET Capital, then transferred control of the
entity to Gnehm. Gnehm used INET Capital as a holding company to
conceal his contreol over approximately 1,375,350 shares of

Zandria stock.
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22. Jamestown Capital, Ltd. was a corporation organized
under the laws of the Caribbean island of Nevig. Frasier caused
the incorporation of Jamestown Capital, then transferred control
of the entity to Gnehm. Gnehm used Jamestown Capital as a
holding company to conceal his control over approximately
1,375,350 shares of Zandria stock.

23. Manitoba Systems, Ltd. was a corporation organized under
the laws of the Caribbean island of Nevis. Frasier caused the
incorporation of Manitoba Systems, then transferred control of
the entity to May. May used Manitoba Systems as a holding
company to conceal his control over approximately 1,375,350
shares of Zandria stock.

24. Internet Investments, Ltd. was a corporation organized
under the laws of the Caribbean island of Nevis. Frasier caused

the incorporation of Internet Investments, then transferred

.control of the entity to May. May used Internet Investments as a

holding company to conceal his control over approximately
1,375,350 shares of Zandria stock.

V. FACTS

The Majority Owners of ZEN, a Private Company, Sought

to Make The Company Public and Raise Additional Funding

25. In approximately November 1998, Lee and DiRoberto
acquired 4.2 million shares, or eighty-five percent of the 5

million total outstanding shares of ZEN, a privately held company
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that purported to be developing various Internet web sites
devoted to youth culture, music, film, sports and clothing.

26. From approximately November 1998 through March 2000,

Lee, DiRoberto and others raised approximately $5 million through

a purported private placement of 1 million shares of ZEN stock in

a fraudulent, unregistered and non-exempt offering.

27. In approximately October 1999, Frasier and DiRoberto
verbally agreed that in exchange for $300,000 and 7 million
purportedly free trading shares of stock, Frasier would arrange
for a third party to complete a reverse merger or similar
transaction with a public shell corporation such that ZEN would
become a public company. Frasier and DiRoberto further agreed
that Frasier would attempt to raise additional funding for ZEN
after the company became public. DiRoberto caused ZEN to wire
$300,000 to the escrow account of Frasier’'s law firm, GFT,
pending the location of a suitable public shell.

28. Frasier caused the formation of a Nevis corporation,
Shesado, Ltd. At times relevant to the Commissions Complaint,

Frasier controlled Shesado, including, but not limited to, its

entry into agreements as well as its bank and brokerage accounts.

29. Frasier memorialized his prior verbal agreement with
DiRoberto by drafting the Congulting and Shell Acguisition
Agreement dated January 26, 2000 between ZEN and Shesado ("“Shell
Acquisition Agreement”). Frasier concealed from DiRoberto that

he controlled Shesado.
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30. The Shell Acquisition Agreement provided that Shesado
would acquire a public shell corporation suitable for a reverse
merger or similar transaction with ZEN. The Shell Acquisition
Agreement also provided that Shesadoe would use its “best efforts”
to obtain $2 million dollars in funding for ZEN after it became a
public company. The Shell Acquisition Agreement further provided
that Shesado would be paid $300,000 and receive 7 million shares
of purportedly free-trading stock in ZEN after it became a public
company. By virtue of the Shell Acquisgition Agreement, Shesado

was an affiliate of ZEN pursuant to SEC Rule 144 (a) (3) (i) [17

C.F.R. 230.144(a) (3)].

Frasier, May and Gnehm Executed a Series of Sham

Transactions to Acquire a Public Shell Corporation and

Gain Control of Its Purportedly Free-Trading Stock

31. Frasier enlisted May to locate a public shell
corporation and negotiate its acquisition.

32. In approximately February 2000, Frasier and May arranged
for ZEN to purchase a majority interest in Longhorn, Inc., a
public shell corporation, for $200,000 from a securities fraud
recidivist. Frasier and May further agreed with the owners of
Longhorn that payment of the $200,000 would be concealed by four
separate stock purchases whereby entities contrclled by Frasier,
May and Gnehm would each purportedly pay $50,000 for 229,225

shares of Longhorn stock.

10
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33. In approximately March 2000, Frasier caused the
formation of four Nevis corporations: INET Capital, Ltd.;
Jamestown Capital, Ltd.; Internet Investments, Ltd. and Manitoba
Systems, Ltd. (collectively “the Nevis Holding Corporations”).
Frasier formed the Nevis Holding Corporations to act as Shesado’s
agents with respect to the Shell Acquisition Agreement.

34. In approximately March 2000, Frasier transferred control
of Manitoba Systems and Internet Investments to May. At or about
the same time, Frasier transferred control over INET Capital and
Jamestown Capital to Gnehm.

35. On or about March 14, 2000, at Frasier’s direction, May
and Gnehm executed sham stock purchase agreements on behalf of
each of the Nevis Holding Corporations under their respective
control whereby each entity purportedly bought 229,225 shares of
Longhorn stock for $50,000. Frasier, May and Gnehm structured
the stock purchase agreements to conceal their acquisition and
combined control of Longhorn.

36. Also on or about March 14, 2000, at Frasier’s direction,
May and Gnehm executed sham promissory notes on behalf of each of
the Nevis Holding Corporations under their respective control
whereby each entity purported to borrow $50,000 from Frasier’s
entity, Shesado. Frasier, May and Gnehm executed the sham
promissory notes in order to conceal that the Nevis Hdlding
Corporations were purchasing their respective Longhorn stock

using funds Shesado would obtain from ZEN.

11
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37. Also, on or about March 14, 2000, using a portion of the
$300,000 that ZEN had escrowed at Frasier's firm, GFT, Frasier
caused the issuance of checks for $50,000 to the owners of
Longhorn on behalf of each of the Nevis Holding Corporations.
Without informing ZEN, Frasier pocketed the remaining $100,000 in
ZEN’s escrow account at GFT by causing the funds to be wired to a
Shesado offshore bank account that he controlled.

38. On or about March 14, 2000, Leonghorn entered into an
agreement to purchase all of the assets of ZEN purportedly in
exchange for Longhorn stock. The combined public company then
changed its name to Zandria Corp.

39. On or about March 16, 2000, at Frasier’s direction,
Zandria split its stock 6-1. Following Zandria’s stock split,
Zandria had approximately 32.2 million outstanding shares.

Former ZEN shareholders held approximately 25.2 million of
Zandria’s outstanding shares. All of the shares held by former
ZEN shareholders, including Lee, DiRoberto and investors in the
ZEN offering were restricted and could not be traded until their
Zandria shares were registered with the Commission and stock
certificates were issued.

40. Following Zandria's stock split, the Nevis Holding
Corporationg controlled by May and Gnehm each held approximately
1,375,350 shares of purportedly free-trading Zandria stock.

Thus, the Nevis Holding Corporations combined held over 5.5

million shares, or approximately 91 percent of the purportedly

12
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free-trading shares of Zandria. 1In addition, Frasier’s entity

Shesado held approximately 1.5 million restricted shares of
Zandria stock.

41. As alleged herein, the Nevis Holding Corporations each
acqguired their Zandria stock through sham transactions with
Shesado. Because Shesado was an affiliate of ZEN, such stock was
therefore restricted as to sale pursuant to SEC Rule

144 (a) (3) (1). [17 C.F.R. 230.144(a) (3)]

Gnehm Coordinated Sales Agents Soliciting Investors to

Buy Zandria Stock on the OTCEB

42. Frasier arranged for Zandria stock to begin trading on
the OTCBB on or about April 3, 2000.

43. From approximately April 2000 through November 2000,
Frasier, May and Gnehm designed and implemented a plan to hype
demand by paying a nationwide network of sales agents undisclosed
compensation in exchange for convincing investors to buy Zandria
stock on the OTCBB through broker-dealers.

44 . Gnehm paid approximately twenty sales agents
compensation based upon a percentage of the value of the Zandria
stock purchased by investors on the OTCBB. Gnehm paid the sales
agents commissions upon his receipt of proof that an investor had
bought Zandria stock on the OTCBB. To receive payment, some
sales agents delivered to Gnehm investors’ Zandria stock purchase

confirmations. Other sales agents notified Gnehm of the date,

13
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approximate time, quantity and broker-dealer where an investor

they had solicited purchased Zandria stock. Using a real-time
stock quotation service, Gnehm verified investors’ purchases and
paid commissions to the sales agents.

4%. The sales agents used telephone saleé tactics, as well
as talking points and promotional materials provided by Gnehm.
When prospective investors expressed interest in purchasing
Zandria stock, CGnehm’s sales agents mailed them promoticnal
materials and provided them with the names of broker-dealers
making a market in Zandria stock.

46. The sales agents failed to disclose to investors that
Ehey were receiving compensation from Gnehm in exchange for
convincing investors to buy Zandria stock. The sales agents also
failed to disclose to investors that Frasier, May and Gnehm
initially controlled more than 91 percent of Zandria's
purportedly free-trading stock and meore than 10 percent of
Zandria’s total outstanding stock. The sales agents alsgo failed
to disclose that at the same time they were hyping the stock to
investors they were acting on behalf of Frasier, May and Gnehm,
who were coordinating May’s sale of Zandria stock to meet the
investor demand. Finally, the sales agents failed to disclose

that the Nevis Holding Corporations

14
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May Sold Zandria Stock Into the Market Created by

Gnehm, Then Split The Proceeds with Frasier and Gnehm

47. Between approximately April 2000 and November 2000, May
offered and scld more than 1.3 million shares of Zandria stock
from brokerage accounts he controlled, netting more than $1
million dollars. For example, on April 3, 2000, the first day
that Zandria was publicly traded, Zandria’s total trading volume
was 150,000 shares. On the first day of trading, May offered and
sold 105,285 shares of Zandria, netting approximately $689,000.
Therefore, through his control of Manitoba Systems, Ltd. and
Internet Investments, Ltd.f May dominated and controlled the
early trading of Zandria stock on the OTCEB.

48. May used the mails or other interstate means tc offer
and sell Zandria stock. None of these transactions were
registered with the Commission.

49. May transferred a portion of the proceeds from his sales
of Zandria stock to Gnehm in order for Gnehm to pay undisclosed
compensation to the sales agents. May split the remaining
proceeds of sales of Zandria stock with Frasier and Gnehm. For
example, following May's sales of Zandria stock on April 3, 2000,
he wired approximately $689,000 in proceeds to a checking account
that he controlled. May then wired $290,000 of the proceeds to
an offshore bank account controlled by Gnehm and $180,000 to a

Shesado offshore bank account controlled by Frasier.

15
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50. By August 2000, the price of Zandria stock had fallen to
below $1 per share. As a result, May began receiving fewer
proceeds from his sale of Zandria stock with which Gnehm could
pay the sales agents. Gnehm therefore began paying the sales
agents’ commigsions in Zandria stock that he held through his
control over INET Capital and Jamestown Capital.

51. Beginning in approximately August and September 2000,
the sales agents began selling the Zandria stock they had
received as compensation from Gnehm without disclosing to
investors that they were personally selling the stock they were
recommending that investors purchase. These sales further
depressed the price of Zandria stock to pennies per share by
Cctober 2000.

52. May continued offering and seiling Zandria stock through
approximately November 2000 when he had completed the sale of all
of the Zandria stock under his control.

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Violationg by Frasier and May
of Exchange Act § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5
(15§ U.S.C. § 78j(b) and 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5])
53. Paragraphs 1 through 52 are hereby realleged and

incorporated by reference.
54. Defendants Frasier and May, with scienter, in connection

with the purchase or sale of Zandria securities, by the use of

16
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means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce or of the

mails, directly or indirectly: (a) employed devices, schemes or
artifices to defraud; (b) made untrue statements of material
facts or omitted to state material facts necessary in order to
make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances underx
which they were made, not misleading; or (c¢) engaged in acts,
practices or courses of business which operated or would operate
as a fraud or deceit upon purchasers of securities in violation
of Section 10(b} of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 thereunder.

55. By reason of the foregoing, Defendants Frasier and May
violated, and unless restrained and enjoined, will violate
Section 10({b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 thereunder.

SECOND CLATIM FOR RELIEF
(Violations By May Of Sections 5(a) And 5(c) Of The
Securities Act as to Z2andria [15 U.S.C. §§ 77e(a) and (c)])

56. Paragraphs 1 through 52 are hereby realleged and
incorporated by reference.

57. Defendant May, directly and indirectly, made use of the
means or instruments of transportation and communicaticon in
interstate commerce and of the mails to offer to sell or offer to
buy through the use or medium of any prospectus or otherwise
Zandria securities, without a registration statement having been
filed with the Commission as to such securities in violation of

Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act.

17
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58. No registration statements have been filed with the
Commission or are otherwise in effect with respect to the Zandria
stock offered by May.

59. By reason of the foregoing, Defendant May violated, and
unless restrained and enjoined, will violate Sections 5(a) and
5(c) of the Securities Act.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully requests that the
Court:

I.

Find that the Defendants, and each of them, committed the
violations alleged.

II.

Enter an Injunction, in a form consistent with Rule 65(d) of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, permanently restraining and
enjoining each defendant, their subsidiaries, officers,
directors, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys-in-fact, and
all persons in active concert or participation with them, from
violating, directly or indirectly, the provisions of law and
rules alleged in this complaint.

III.

Order Defendants and their respective agents, servants,

employees and attorneys to account for and disgorge all ill-

gotten gaing received or benefits in any form derived from the

18
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'illegal conduct alleged in this Complaint, together with pre-
judgment and post-judgment interest as provided by law.
IV.

Order Defendants to pay third tier civil penalties pursuant
to Section 21(d) (3) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S5.C. § 78u{d) (3)]
and Section 20(d) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77t (d}] in
an amount to be determined by the Court.

V.

Enter an Order barring Frasier and May from participating in
an offering of penny stock pursuant to Section 20 of the
Securities Act and Section 21(d) of the Exchange Act.

VI.

Enter an Order barring May from serving as an officer or
director of any publicly held company pursuant to Section 20 ({e)
of the Securities Act, Section 21(d) (2) of the Exchange Act and
the Court’s equitable authority.

VII.
Grant such other relief as this Court may deem just or

appropriate.

Dated: Qctober 1, 2003

Regpectfully submitted,
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/@M/am

ROBERT M. FUSFELD{_/

ELIZABETH ESPINOSA KRUPA

THOMAS A. ZACCARO

Attorneys for Plaintiff

Securities and Exchange Commission
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